IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO.2007-KA-00112-COA

JAMES ARTHUR FANNINGS, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

AN APPEAL OF THE CONVICTION FOR MURDER IN VIOLATION  
OF MISSISSIPPI ANNOTATED CODE SECTION 97-3-19 AND  
A SENTENCE TO A TERM OF LIFE WITHIN THE CUSTODY AND  
CONTROL OF THE MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

APPELLANT IS CURRENTLY INCARCERATED

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

JOHNNIE E. WALLS, JR.

163 NORTH BROADWAY STREET

P. O. BOX 634

GREENVILLE, MISSISSIPPI 38702

(662) 335-6001

(662) 378-8958

E-mail: [jewalls1@wallslawfirm.com](mailto:jewalls1@wallslawfirm.com)

Bar No. [REDACTED]

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY FAILED TO GRANT A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE JURY VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER ALTHOUGH THE VERDICT WAS CONTRARY TO THE FACTS AND THE LAW IN THAT THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A GUILTY VERDICT ON THE CHARGE OF MURDER.

II. THE EVIDENCE ONLY SUPPORTED A VERDICT OF MANSLAUGHTER AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY FAILED TO GRANT A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE JURY VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER ALTHOUGH THE VERDICT OF MURDER WAS CONTRARY TO THE FACTS AND THE LAW IN THAT THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A GUILTY VERDICT ON THE CHARGE OF MURDER BUT SUPPORTED A VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MANSLAUGHTER.

III. WHETHER THE FAILURE OF THE COURT TO ADVISE THE APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO TESTIFY OR NOT TO TESTIFY ON THE RECORD, DEPRIVED HIM OF THE CULBERSON WARNINGS IN VIOLATION OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, THE MISSISSIPPI STATE CONSTITUTION ARTICLE 3 SECTION 26 WARRANTING REVERSIBLE ERROR?

IV. WHETHER APPELLANT RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL INASMUCH AS THE JURY ONLY TOOK 16 MINUTES TO REACH A GUILTY VERDICT AFTER THREE DAYS OF TESTIMONY?

V. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE MURDER STATUTE IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO LIFE WITHOUT THE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE.

VI. WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ERRORS WARRANT REVERSAL OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, James Arthur Fannings, Jr., was indicted on or about September 19, 2006 by the grand jury prior to the November, 2006 Term in the Second Judicial District of Bolivar County, Mississippi for the charge of murder in violation of Section 97-3-19 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as amended. The Appellant was served with a capias and the indictment on the 20<sup>th</sup> day of September, 2006, and thereafter filed motions for discovery and received discovery from the State of Mississippi, filed a notice of demand for a speedy trial on September 29, 2006.

An order setting docket and trial was entered on October 2, 2006. A Revised State Docket Trial Calendar was entered on October 24, 2006. Appellant filed, *pro se*, a motion for a dismissal on October 24, 2006. An order was entered continuing the case during the term on October 25, 2006. Additional counsel, Stan Perkins, entered his appearance in the case for the Appellant on November 3, 2006 and filed a motion for a continuance on November 16, 2006 whereupon an order denying the motion for a continuance was entered on November 17, 2006.

The case proceeded to trial on November 28, 2006. The State presented its case by calling nine (9) witnesses which included the mother of the alleged deceased, an acquaintance of Appellant from Pennsylvania, an investigating officer with the Pennsylvania State Police, a Bolivar County Deputy Sheriff, an admitted accomplice, two

"jail house informants," a resident of Alligator and an acquaintance of Appellant, and an alleged girlfriend of Appellant from Pennsylvania. The Appellant chose to neither testify in his defense nor call any witnesses on his behalf, and rested after the State rested. The State was unable to present and had no rebuttal proof to present and therefore finally rested.

The court considered and granted Instructions D-9 and D10, which allowed the jury to consider a lesser included offense of manslaughter over the objection of the State/Appellee finding that there had been testimony offered of "heat of passion." The jury was directed to deliberate and to consider three (3) possible verdicts, "Not Guilty," "Guilty of Murder," and "Guilty of Manslaughter." (RE. ) (Tr. 588)

The jury thereafter retired to deliberate on November 30, 2006 and on November 30, 2006 after a relatively short period of deliberation, the jury returned a verdict of "We the jury find the defendant guilty of murder." ( RE.7) ( R.66) The trial judge entered a judgment on December 1, 2006 sentencing the Appellant to a term of life imprisonment which "shall not be reduced or suspended, nor shall the defendant be eligible for parole or probation during the said sentence." The Appellant timely filed a Motion For A New Trial on December 8, 2006. The Court thereafter on December 15, 2006 entered its "Order Denying Motion For New Trial."

Present counsel of record, the undersigned herein, entered his appearance on behalf of the Appellant on January 12, 2007. The



Appellant via counsel timely filed his notice of appeal on January 12, 2007.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Stacey Hazelton, a twenty-one year old young woman, who grew up in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania ended up in and around Alligator and Duncan, Bolivar County, Mississippi with her boy friend, James Arthur Fannings, Jr., appellant herein. According to Natalie Hazelton, her mother, Stacy was a hard worker and while in Pennsylvania, worked two jobs, at a restaurant and at a gas station. She met James Arthur Fannings, Jr. on the job some two years earlier and began dating. They dated for more than two years, and in the early spring of 2004, she announced to her mother and family, that she was going to Mississippi. She owned a 1996 teal green, four-door Chevy F-10 Blazer automobile, which her father bought for her, in which she would make the trip to Mississippi. (RE-28 - 34 ) (Tr. 184-190) (See: Exhibit S-2 and Exhibit S-3, E-19 and E-20)

The Appellant, Stacy Hazelton, and Chavon Pierre Mack, a friend of Appellant, drove to Alligator, Mississippi. Upon arriving in Alligator, they went to the home of Rochelle Williams, "Big Mama" which was located in an Apartment complex, "Alligator Place" on Birchfield Street in Alligator, Mississippi. "Big Mama" lived in Apartment No. 3, a three (3) bedroom apartment with her daughter, "Teetee", and one of her close friends, Jennifer and her boyfriend, Gary. [(RE-139)(TR.298)] Appellant, Stacy, and Chavon lived in the apartment with "Big Mama for approximately two and -a-half weeks. The three of them then moved to a trailer in Duncan, Mississippi.

They remained there together for approximately a week and-a-half. Appellant and Stacy were a couple and Chavon Mack slept on the couch.  
( RE-186) (Tr.358)

According to Natalie Hazelton, Stacy returned home in April and wanted her clothes and her television and stereo. She wanted a lot of "stuff" including her bike. Her family help her pack her Blazer and her father gave her \$500.00 before she left so she would have money for food and gas. They did not see her anymore after that. They were in communication by cell phone two or three time per day. Later the phone calls ceased and they became worried, so they contacted the Bolivar County Sheriff's Department.

Natalie Hazelton recalls talking with Stacy last on May 21, 2004 after calling the Bolivar County Sheriff's Department. Stacy was going to come home but needed her Blazer fixed, so she sent Stacy \$400.00 to the Walmart in Cleveland, Mississippi to get it fixed. She recalls that Stacy was crying and wanted to come home. She did not talk with Stacy again. Stacy loved Christmas, but she did not call around Christmas of 2004.

In May, 2004 Bolivar County Deputy Charles Griffin, who later became involved in the missing persons investigation in August, 2005, located and talked with Stacy following her mother's call to the Bolivar County Sheriff's Department. He responded to a 911 operator call to make a "welfare check" "to see how she's [Stacy] doing and if she was still there," at the request of Natalie Hazelton. (RE. 140-

141, TR. 299-300) He determined that she was still there "living in the Apartment in Alligator.

In January, 2005 Natalie Hazelton and her husband filed a missing person report. She talked with Corporal Patrick Quigley of the Pennsylvania State Police in June of 2005. She later in October, 2005 saw Stacy's vehicle "in an impound out at M & P Garage in Pennsylvania. (RE. 40, TR. 196)

According to Chavon Mack, who had accompanied Stacy and James Fannings to Alligator, Mississippi, after he, Stacy and James had left Big Mama's Apartment and were living in Duncan in a trailer, they took some items, including some rings, other things, and a Play Station that belonged to him, to Clarksdale to a Pawn Shop to get money because they needed to get the truck fixed. He was the one who signed the receipt to pawn the items because he had an ID. James Fannings kept all of the money. According to him Stacy never at this time went back to Pennsylvania. (RE. 185-188, TR.357-360)

Further according to Mack, Stacy and James Fannings argued a lot, she cried a lot and they fought most days. James hit her a couple of times, but it was "pretty much fighting the whole time." She did not leave the house much, but James always left. When they were still at Big Mama's house, James locked Stacy in a room at least twice and she would sit in the room and cry. When James would leave she would come out and use the bathroom and go back into the room, but would remain in the room all day. (RE. 189, TR. 361) On one occasion when

they were in the trailer in Duncan, he told her to leave and threw her clothes out and he left. After James left he did not see the clothes again-James must have taken them. After that she worn the same clothes "for like five days." (RE. 190, TR.362)

Officer Quigley indicated that James Fannings in a later interview, said that he took Stacy to Clarksdale, Mississippi and put her on a bus. That was corroborated by Teetee.

Mack claimed that James and Stacy were in the room arguing, "he was talking about how he wanted to have more than one chick and that she said the she wasn't for it and she wanted to leave." After that he [James] said "well, if I can't have anybody else, then I might as well kill myself." "And she said, no, kill me." And at that time, before she said that, I turned around and he shot her. And she fell face down." Mack further claimed that James Fannings told him "If I [Mack] don't help him get rid of the body, he's going to kill me."

Mack testified that James Fannings told him to find something to put her in, so he went into Big Mama's room and found a big "tote" in her closet. The "tote" was green and could have been a 50 gallon "tote"- it was long and it stood up at least to his knee caps. He got all of Big Mama's clothes out of the "tote" and went back into the room where she was, and James "already had her wrapped in the sheets off the bed." Nobody was there in the house at that time but Stacy, Mack and James. This incident took place in the back bedroom, "Big Mama's son's bedroom. (RE. 193-196, TR. 365-368)

Mack further claimed that James went into the bathroom, grabbed some detergent, and cleaned up the blood that was on the floor. James helped him push the tote into Big Mama's room, then went outside and backed the truck up to the window, climbed in the window, and they lifted the tote up and put her in the back of the truck -- Stacy's truck. There was not much blood. After that they drove back to the "house." After that they [Mack and James] rode around with her in the truck for two days. Mack claimed James wanted to get rid of her, but did not know where to put her. At one point he claims they were stopped by Deputy Sheriff Charles Griffin. Another officer approached the vehicle and told Mack to get out, James had the gun in his lap, the officers questioned them why they were there, and ran a check on Mack, since he had given them his name. Although it was daylight, the officers told them that they did not want to see them around there and to make sure they get home and allowed them to leave. Mack claims he did not say anything to the officers about the body being in the Truck because he was scared. That night Mack further claims that James took him somewhere around Duncan on a farm and discovered a metal barrel and they put her body in the barrel and burned her. James, Mack claimed, put gasoline on her from a little quart bottle and burned her. He added paper to the flames as it burned. It took close to seven hours to burn-the fire went until morning. No one came by during the burning. They did not leave during the burning. After the burning, Mack claims James kicked over the barrel and told him to

get her remains and put her in a bag. She was in parts-just body parts. He could see "like a shoulder, like he could see meat off the bones. He put her in a brown bag which was already in the truck. Mack had put the bag in the truck earlier because James told him to do so. They then drove back to Duncan and went to a shed near their trailer and got a shovel and put it in the truck. They then drove back to almost the same spot where they burned her and went inside the woods and James told him to dig. Mack dug a hole almost to the depth of his knees, put her in the hole, and covered her. They then drove back to Big Mama House. Mack claims James told him "[I]f anybody asked where she was, tell them that she left and he sent her bags on a little train back home." They stayed at Big Mama's for "a good four or five days, they then picked up Big Mama's daughter, Teetee, to take her back home to Pennsylvania. They drove Stacy's car. None of Stacy's belongings were put in the truck, and he did not see any of her belongings.

When the conversation was had about taking Teetee back to Pennsylvania, none of the other people present knew about what had happened to Stacy. Nothing was ever said to Teetee and Big Mama about Stacy and they never asked anything. When they got to some place in Tennessee, after Teetee and James were in the back see playing or wrestling, he heard James say "you cut me bitch, you cut me." She got out and he did not see her again until later in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. She would not talk to him.

Later during the investigation, Mack took officers to the area where he claimed the body was burned and later buried, but neither Mack nor the officers ever located any traces of a body that could be identified as that of Stacy Hazelton. There were bones found, but were determined to be the bones of animals not human. Officers also searched and conducted an investigation of Big Mama's Apartment and found nothing which could be evidence of the events that Mack claimed occurred that apartment. There were traces of blood found in Big Mama's Apartment, but was determined to be from someone else other than Stacy Hazelton. (Note the testimony of Charles Griffin. RE. 137-177, TR. 296-336)

Officers of the Pennsylvania State Police, as part of their Missing Person's investigation examined and search the vehicle identified as belonging to Stacy Hazelton, failed to reveal any evidence which supported the allegations of Chavon Mack. [ See the testimony of Patrick Quigley, a Missing Persons Investigator with the Pennsylvania State Police. RE.55-136, TR.211-292]

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant contends that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's motion for a New Trial and request for a judgment notwithstanding the jury verdict when the jury returned a verdict finding the Appellant guilty of murder, i.e, there was insufficient credible evidence presented to sustain a verdict of guilty of murder



but could possibly support a verdict of manslaughter as was considered by the jury as a lesser included offense of murder.

Since the victim was neither found nor proven beyond a reasonable doubt to be dead and the Appellee/State of Mississippi's case against the Appellant rested upon the testimony of an admitted accomplice, alleged admissions of the Appellant to "jailhouse informants or snitches," and alleged inconsistencies or conflicts in statements made by Appellant to investigators on collateral issues, the verdict of guilty should not stand.

Appellant also argues that he was not advised of or given Culberson warnings regarding his testimony, if any, so deprived of his constitutional rights. He neither testified nor presented any witnesses at the trial on his behalf without being advised by the Court of the advantages and disadvantages of testifying or not testifying.

Appellant was also denied effective assistance of counsel by the trial court's failure to grant him a continuance and the jury's minimal time for deliberation before rendering a verdict of guilty of murder thereby making it clear that his defense was ineffective.

Appellant further submits that he was unlawfully sentenced by the Court in violation of the murder statute.

Appellant finally argues that the cumulative affect of the errors warrant this Court reversing his conviction of murder.

## ARGUMENT

**I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY FAILED TO GRANT A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE JURY VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER ALTHOUGH THE VERDICT WAS CONTRARY TO THE FACTS AND THE LAW IN THAT THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A GUILTY VERDICT ON THE CHARGE OF MURDER.**

The Appellant contends and asserts here, as in his Motion For A New Trial which included a request for a judgement notwithstanding the jury verdict, that the verdict of "guilty" on the charge made in the indictment was contrary to the credible evidence presented as a matter of law. As set forth herein, supra, the pivotal issue in this case was whether there was a murder committed, i.e., whether Stacy Hazelton was actually killed. Obviously the next and probably most important issue in this criminal case, as in all other criminal prosecutions for the death of a person, is whether it could be proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused committed the killing unlawfully.

The trial court, in considering motions challenging the sufficiency of the State's proof, must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State giving the prosecution the benefit of all reasonable inferences which may be drawn from the evidence. **McClain v. State**, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993) The Court is obligated to reverse a conviction and render a judgment of acquittal when it determines that, viewed in that light, the State's evidence as to one or more of the critical elements of the crime - in this case, more particularly, that the Defendant was not guilty of murder - is so lacking that reasonable jurors could not have found Appellant guilty

of murder. *Id.* If the trial court denies the motion, that denial is raised as an issue on appeal, the Court is charged to review the evidence by the same standard to determine whether the trial court erred in it's ruling. ***Id at 781.***

It has long been settled in this State that the Supreme Court will reverse a conviction or remand the case for a new trial even though the question of guilt was an issue for the jury, where the verdict was against the weight of the credible evidence. In ***Heflin v. State***, 178 So 594 (Miss. 1938), the Honorable Court held:

"Although the question of guilt was not one for a directed verdict for Appellant, but the issue for the jury, still, we are of the opinion that the verdict was against the weight of the evidence. For that reason alone we reverse the judgment for a new trial."

On appeal from a judgment of conviction, the question before the Supreme Court is not whether the Defendant, is in fact guilty, or probably guilty, but whether the State has made out, beyond a reasonable doubt, a case sufficient to withstand the weight of testimony consistent with innocence. ***Miller v. State***, 198 Miss 277, 22 So. 2d 164 (1945)

Where it is manifest that no reasonable person engaged in a search for truth, uninfluenced by improper motives or consideration, could safely accept or act on the sufficiency of the evidence produced, taking it as a whole, the defendant should be discharged. ***Bennett v. State***, 374 So. 2d 803, 806n.1 (Miss. 1979).

Where the evidence is insufficient to show the commission of the offense charge, the judgment will be reversed. **Hunt v. State**, 108 Miss. 588, 67 So. 57 (1915). A verdict cannot be permitted to stand where the verdict is not supported by evidence on an essential point. The Court opined in **Turner v. State**, 168 Miss. 452, 151 So. 721 (1934),

"Where a conviction is had on record showing evidence for prosecution in that of the Defendant cogent and consistent, the Supreme Court must examine the transcript in minutest detail to ascertain whether something not according to the law of the land turned upon attenuated testimony."

The quality and credibility of the evidence presented by the Appellee in this case should have left the jury in a serious quandary during deliberations. What was the evidence? There was a missing person investigation which changed to a murder investigation more than a year after the disappearance of the alleged victim. That particular change or turn of events occurred solely because the man who claims to have been a witness to the alleged shooting of the alleged victim admittedly helped to conceal, burn, and bury the alleged victim and withheld his alleged knowledge of that information for more than a year, if he is to be believed.

The alleged witness, Chavon Pierre Mack, is at best untrustworthy and his testimony should have been viewed with great, care, caution and suspicion by the jury because he is an admitted accomplice to killing and alleged cover-up of the alleged killing, who was never arrested and charged, even with accessory after the fact. Appellant

asserts that he is unreliable and no conviction should be based upon his testimony.

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