IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# JAMES ARTHUR FANNING, JR.

# FILED

MAR 1 8 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE** 

# APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

VS.

APPELLANT

NO. 2007-KA-0112

APPELLEE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The verdict is based on legally sufficient evidence. The state presented ample proof of the *corpus delicti*. Whether this homicide was murder or manslaughter was properly resolved by the jury. The prosecution introduced sufficient proof to establish that the defendant deliberately put a gun to Stacey Hazelton's head and shot her.

The trial court advised the defendant of his right to testify or not to testify.

Fannings has not shown that his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance.

The trial court did not err in sentencing Fannings to imprisonment for life without possibility of parole.

Fannings' invocation of the cumulative error doctrine is procedurally barred and substantively without merit.

#### **PROPOSITION ONE:**

#### THE VERDICT IS BASED ON LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PROOF

Under his Propositions I. and II, Fannings challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence undergirding the verdict. To prevail, he must satisfy the formidable standard of review set out below:

When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is quite limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence--not just that supporting the case for the prosecution--in the light most consistent with the verdict. We give [the] prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. If the facts and inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty, reversal and discharge are required. On the other hand, if there is in the record substantial evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, the verdict of guilty is thus placed beyond our authority to disturb.

*Manning v. State*, 735 So.2d 323, 333 (Miss.1999), quoting *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

Furthermore,

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). "It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief." *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) Ford v. State, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss. App.1999).

See also *Jackson v. State*, 580 So.2d 1217, 1219 (Miss.1991) (on appellate review the state "is entitled to the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence"), and *Noe*, 616 So.2d at 302 (evidence favorable to the defendant should be disregarded). Accord, *Harris v. State*, 532 So.2d 602, 603 (Miss.1988) (appellate court "should not and cannot usurp the power of the fact-finder/ jury"). "When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the evidence which supports the verdict is accepted as true by the reviewing court, and the State is given the benefit of all reasonable inferences flowing from the evidence." *Dumas v. State*, 806 So.2d 1009, 1011 (Miss. 2000).

The state incorporates by reference its statement of Substantive Facts in contending the proof amply supports a finding that Fannings committed a cold-blooded murder by deliberately putting a gun to Stacey's head and pulling the trigger.<sup>7</sup> While the Stacey's remains were not recovered, the testimony of the eyewitness, Chavon Mack, provided proof of the corpus delicti. *King v. State*, 251 Miss. 161, 168 So.2d 637, 642-43 (1964). See also *Boddie v. State*, 850 So.2d 1205, 1208 (Miss. App. 2002). Mack's testimony was corroborated by that of Hollingsworth and Robinson, who provided details that could have been revealed only by Fannings.<sup>8</sup>

In response to Fannings' argument that the evidence at best supports a conviction of the lesser crime of manslaughter, the state submits that "[w]hether homicide is classified as a murder or manslaughter is ordinarily an inquiry to be made by the jury." *Hodge v. State*, 823 So.2d 1162, 1166 (Miss.2002). We adopt by reference the District Attorney's argument in opposition to the granting of a manslaughter instruction: ""He's [the defendant's] not testified so we have no evidence that shows any heat of passion. We show a cold-blooded murder just from the evidence if it's believed by the jury. So it will not

<sup>7</sup>If it is possible to exacerbate a cold-blooded murder, Fannings did so by his treatment of Stacey's body and his cavalier references to what he had done.

<sup>8</sup>In making this point, the state incorporates by reference the portion of the assistant district attorney's argument transcribed at T.615-17.

be any manslaughter."<sup>9</sup> T.586) Nonetheless, the court allowed the jury the option of finding the defendant guilty of manslaughter; yet it returned a verdict of guilty of murder. The court properly allowed the jury to decide this issue and correctly refused to disturb its verdict.

The state respectfully submits that Fannings' challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence presented is essentially an improper attempt to relitigate factual issues, including credibility of the witnesses, properly resolved by the jury. Facts, the state asserts the trial court did not abuse its discretion in submitting this case to the jury and refusing to overturn its verdict. The evidence is not such that reasonable jurors could have returned no verdict other than not guilty. Taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, the proof and the reasonable inferences therefrom support the conclusion that Fannings committed committed a cold-blooded murder. Fannings' Propositions I. and II. should be denied.

#### **PROPOSITION TWO:**

# THE TRIAL COURT ADVISED THE DEFENDANT OF HIS RIGHT TO TESTIFY OR NOT TO TESTIFY

Fannings contends additionally that the trial court erred in failing to advise him of his right to testify or not to testify. This argument is patently refuted by the following excerpt from the record, which was taken after the court denied the motion for directed verdict:

[BY THE COURT:] Now, Mr. Perkins, let us move to the next juncture. Have you had an opportunity to confer with your client?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The district attorney went on to argue, "And then he was very cool when he turned around there and shot her. ... [T]his is called a cool, collected and knowing murder." (T.587-88)

BY MR. PERKINS: I have, Your Honor.

BY THE COURT: Has he made a decision as to whether or not he's going to testify?

BY MR. PERKINS: He has indicated to me that he chooses not to testify. If I may be so bold as to ask him if that's his own decision.

BY THE COURT: Well, if you don't mind, I will.

BY MR. PERKINS: Oh, yes, sir.

BY THE COURT: Mr. Fannings, this case is between you and the State of Mississippi. You have a right to testify, you have a right not to testify. Should you choose to testify, you will be examined by your attorney or one of them and cross-examined by one of the State's prosecutors. You will be questioned just like other witnesses have been questioned in the case.

Now, if you choose not to testify, the State cannot comment upon your not testifying. They can't say, for example, that you must be guilty because you didn't say anything to defend yourself. The law does not allow the prosecutors to say that.

Now, if you find it necessary to go out and talk with your attorneys again, you may. If you wish to remain steadfast in your decision not to testify, you may tell me that now.

BY MR. Fannings: It's my understanding, Your Honor, that this case is based on the facts and the evidence and the law so I do not wish to testify.

BY THE COURT: Very well. That decision on your part will be accepted by the Court and will be respected by the attorneys.

(emphasis added) (T.571-72)

A trial court is not required to advise a defendant of his right to testify on his own

behalf. Scott v. State, 965 So.2d 758, 763 (Miss. App. 2007), citing Shelton v. State, 445

So.2d 844, 847 (Miss.1984), and Culberson v. State, 412 So.2d 1184, 1187 (Miss.1982).

Nonetheless, the trial court in this case unequivocally advised the defendant on the record that he had the right to testify or not to testify. Fannings' third proposition is belied by the record and plainly has no merit.

# **PROPOSITION THREE:**

# FANNINGS HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE

Fannings' fourth issue is "whether appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel inasmuch as the jury only took 16 minutes to reach a guilty verdict after three days of testimony. He appears to labor under the assumption that a short interval of deliberation is *res ipsa loquitur* that trial counsel was ineffective. That simply is not the benchmark.<sup>10</sup> To the contrary, Fannings must satisfy the following standard in order to prevail:

The Mississippi Supreme Court has adopted the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) in determining whether a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should prevail. . . . *Rankin v. State*, 636 So.2d 652, 656 (Miss.1994) enunciates the application of *Strickland*:

The Strickland test requires a showing that counsel's performance was sufficiently deficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. ... The defendant has the burden of proof on both prongs. A strong but rebuttable presumption, that counsel's performance falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, exists. . . The defendant must show that but for his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>For the record, the state points out that "there is no formula to determine how long a jury should deliberate." *Smith v. State*, 569 So.2d 1203, 1205 (Miss. 1990).

# attorney's errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would have received a different result in the trial court....

Viewed from the totality of the circumstances, this Court must determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. . . . Scrutiny of counsel's performance by this Court must be deferential. . . . If the defendant raises questions of fact regarding either deficiency of counsel's conduct or prejudice to the defense, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. . . . Where this Court determines defendant's counsel was constitutionally ineffective, the appropriate remedy is to reverse and remand for a new trial.

In short, a convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal has two components to comply with *Strickland*. First, he must show that counsel's performance was deficient, that he made errors so serious that he was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that counsel's errors deprived him of a fair trial with reliable results.

(emphasis added) *Colenburg v. State*, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102-03 (Miss. App.1999).

Because this point is raised for the first time on direct appeal, Fannings encounters

an additional obstacle: the pertinent question

is not whether trial counsel was or was not ineffective but whether the trial judge, as a matter of law, had a duty to declare a mistrial or to order a new trial, sua sponte on the basis of trial counsel's performance. "Inadequacy of counsel" refers to representation that is so lacking in competence that the trial judge has the duty to correct it so as to prevent a mockery of justice. *Parham v. State*, 229 So.2d 582, 583 (Miss.1969). To reason otherwise would be to cast the appellate court in the role of a finder of fact; it does not sit to resolve factual inquiries. *Malone v. State*, 486 So.2d 367, 369 n. 2 (Miss.1986). *Read fv. State*, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss.1983)] clearly articulates that the method that the issue of a trial counsel's effectiveness can be susceptible to review by an appellate court requires that the counsel's effectiveness, or lack thereof, be discernable from the four corners of the trial record. This is to say that if this Court can determine from the record that counsel was ineffective, then it should have been apparent to the presiding judge, who had the duty, under *Parham*, to declare a mistrial or order a new trial sua sponte.

(emphasis added) Colenburg, 735 So.2d at 1102.

Accord, *Madison v.* State, 923 So.2d 252 (Miss. App. 2006); *Jenkins v. State*, 912 So.2d 165, 173 (Miss. App. 2005); *Walker v. State*, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss. App. 2002); *Estes v. State*, 782 So.2d 1244, 1248-49 (Miss. App. 2000).

Fannings has not begun to show counsel's performance was so deplorable as to require the court to declare a mistrial on its own motion. The fact that the jury deliberated for 16 minutes is simply a *non sequitur*. His fourth proposition plainly lacks merit.

#### **PROPOSITION FOUR:**

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING FANNINGS TO IMPRISONMENT FOR LIFE WITHOUT POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE

Under his fifth proposition, Fannings asserts that the trial court erred in sentencing him to life imprisonment without possibility of parole.<sup>11</sup> (C.P.67-69) Fannings argues that this sentence is contrary to law. The following language demonstrates the error of this argument:

A defendant convicted of murder is to be sentenced to life imprisonment. Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-21 (Rev.2000). This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The sentence was ordered to be served consecutively to sentences previously imposed. (C.P.68)

provision must be read in conjunction with others that detail which classes of crimes permit the possibility of parole following conviction. Other than first-time offenders convicted of nonviolent crimes, persons convicted after June 30, 1995, are ineligible for parole. Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-3(1)(g) (Rev.2000). This applies to Booker.

Booker v. Bailey, 839 So.2d 611, 612 (Miss. App. 2003).

The same analysis applies to Fannings, who is not a first-time offender. The trial court did

not err in sentencing Fannings. His fifth proposition should be denied.

#### **PROPOSITION FIVE:**

# FANNINGS' INVOCATION OF THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND SUBSTANTIVELY MERITLESS

Fannings finally contends that the cumulative errors of the trial court mandates reversal of the judgment rendered against him. He did not present this argument at any time in the trial court and may not raise it for the first time on appeal. *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260-61 (Miss.2001); *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss.1998). His sixth proposition is procedurally barred.

In the alternative, the state incorporates its arguments under Propositions One through Four in asserting that the lack of merit in Fannings' other arguments demonstrates the futility of his final proposition. *Gibson*, 731 So.2d at 1098; *Doss v.* State, 709 So.2d 369, 400 (Miss.1997); *Chase v. State*, 645 So.2d 829, 861 (Miss.1994). See also *Brown v. State*, 682 So.2d 340, 356 (Miss.1996) ("twenty times zero equals zero"). Fannings' invocation of the cumulative error doctrine lacks substantive merit as well.

# CONCLUSION

The state respectfully submits that the arguments presented by Fannings have no

merit. Accordingly, the judgment entered below should be affirmed.